ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RECEIVED

SEP - 4 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

September 4, 2013

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk of Court
South Carolina Supreme Court
P.O. Box 11330
Columbia, SC 29211

RE: Juan Tyree Smith a/k/a Jwan Tyree Smith v. State
Appellate Case No. 2013-000018

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed for filing please find an original and six (6) copies of the **Petition for Writ of Certiorari** in the above-captioned case. The Appendix was served and filed with the Court on August 7, 2013.

If there are any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to contact me at any time.

Sincerely,

Karen C. Ratigan
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Enc

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding trial counsel should have presented the argument of defense of others at trial because such an argument is not supported by the evidence in this case?
2. Did the PCR judge err in finding trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to hearsay or bad character evidence because most of the statements were not, in fact, hearsay or bad character evidence, and no prejudice resulted from these statements?
3. Did the PCR judge err in finding trial counsel failed to adequately meet with Respondent and investigate the case because, as Respondent told counsel he was innocent of the crime, there was little counsel could have done to further investigate the case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was indicted at the May 2006 term of the Anderson County Grand Jury for murder (2006-GS-04-1746, count 1) and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime (2006-GS-04-1746, count 2). (App.pp.652-53). He was represented by Robert A. Gamble, Esquire.

After the State called the case to trial, Respondent was found guilty. On May 9, 2007, Respondent was sentenced by the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay to concurrent terms of thirty years for murder and five years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. (App.p.400; pp.654-55).

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Robert M. Dudek, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense perfected the appeal in the form of an Anders¹ brief. (App.pp.403-15). The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Smith, Op. No. 2010-UP-009 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 21, 2010). (App.p.416).

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on May 21, 2010 and an amended application dated September 26, 2013. (App.pp.417-22; pp.427-33). An evidentiary hearing was held on October 3, 2012 at the Anderson County Courthouse. (App.pp.434-628). Respondent was present and represented by Druanne White, Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General represented the State. The Honorable Clifton Newman granted relief in an order filed December 10, 2012. (App.pp.630-51).

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S. Ct. 1396 (1967).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR judge erred in finding trial counsel should have presented the argument of defense of others at trial because such an argument is not supported by the evidence in this case.

The PCR judge found trial counsel erred in not presenting the argument of defense of others at Respondent’s trial. (App.pp.643-50). This finding was erroneous because neither the discovery material nor the subsequent PCR testimony support an argument of defense of others.

A.

At trial, the State presented substantial evidence that Respondent shot and killed the victim without provocation and in cold blood. Angela Brownlee – also known as Sally – testified she and the victim had been dating for eleven months at the time of the victim’s murder. (App.p.54). Brownlee testified she and the victim went to the Old School Lounge and that, shortly after they arrived, the victim decided he wanted to go back home, so they left. (App.pp.55-56). After Brownlee took the victim home, she drove back to the Old School Lounge by herself. (App.p.57). Brownlee arrived back at the club around 10:00 – 10:30 p.m., ordered a beer, and sat down next to an acquaintance

named Michael Vance, who went by the nickname "Shoes." (App.pp.57-58). After a period of time, the victim returned to the club, and appeared upset because Brownlee was sitting with Vance. The victim grabbed Brownlee's necklace and it fell off. Brownlee testified, "[h]e ain't hit me or nothing. He just grabbed me by the necklace, and when it fell off, he just picked them up for me and went out. He went to his car and I went to mine, but I couldn't get mine to crank." (App.pp.57-58). Brownlee testified she looked under the hood of her car, and while she was bent over, she heard gunshots. When she looked up, the victim was lying on the ground. (App.pp.58-59). Brownlee testified she did not see the shooter and that the victim did not have an argument or exchange words that night with anyone but her. (App.pp.59-61).

Vance testified the victim and Brownlee had "a little altercation" when he came back to the Old School Lounge. (App.pp.66-67). Vance testified he went outside shortly after Brownlee and the victim and saw the two were "carrying on, fussing." (App.p.68). Vance testified the victim and the shooter did not have words before the shooting. (App.p.71).

Fred Chiles testified he was standing outside the Old School Lounge and saw Brownlee and the victim exit the building. (App.pp.82-85). He said the victim was making statements to Brownlee, saying "I told you I'd catch you," but, "[h]e wasn't physically fighting her or nothing." (App.p.85). Chiles testified the victim pulled his car alongside Brownlee's vehicle. (App.pp.86-87). When asked how the victim was acting towards Brownlee at that point, Chiles testified the victim was "[j]ust trying to get her car started" and that they were not fighting. (App.p.87; p.93). Chiles testified he saw

Respondent shoot the victim but that the two men had not exchanged words (other than Respondent saying “pssst, pssst, pssst” right before he shot the victim). (App.pp.87-90; p.93). Chiles testified he told police that night that Respondent was the shooter and later identified him from a photographic lineup. (App.p.92; pp.101-02).

Bassen Hailey said he saw a male and a female outside the Old School Lounge that night. He testified, “I don’t know if you can call it an argument. I seen a little commotion.” (App.p.115). Bassen Hailey said “[i]t looked like they was having a few words. I can’t say they were arguing because I couldn’t hear what was said from where I was at.” (App.p.115). Bassen Hailey testified he did not get a good look at the shooter but that Respondent asked him for a gun that night. (App.p.116; pp.120-22). Bassen Hailey testified the victim and the shooter did not exchange words before the shooting. (App.p.121).

LaTorrey Pearson was also standing outside the Old School Lounge and testified a male and female “were arguing.” (App.pp.164-65). When trial counsel asked him if he saw blows exchanged, Pearson answered “[n]o” and that “they was fussing.” (App.p.181). Pearson admitted he lied in his statement to the police, which said he saw “the black man hit the black woman a couple of times.” (App.p.181). Pearson testified, “I didn’t see that. . . . I didn’t see him swinging at her.” (App.pp.181-82). Upon further questioning, he testified “[h]e might have swung at her a couple times.” (App.p.182). Pearson testified he gave Respondent a gun that night but initially denied identifying Respondent as the shooter. (App.pp.165-67). Pearson was impeached with his three prior statements – the third of which contained an identification of Respondent as the

shooter. (App.pp.169-78). Pearson testified Respondent and the victim did not exchange words before the shooting. (App.p.171).

James Pickens was also outside the Old School Lounge that night. He testified the victim “and his girlfriend had a little, little fight or something,” and “[h]e hit her.” (App.pp.200-01). He testified that after the female’s car would not start, “I seen somebody came from out of the back and shot three times.” (App.p.203). When asked if Respondent “jump[ed] in to help Ms. Brownlee or anything,” Pickens said no. (App.pp.219-20).

Alphonso Hailey was standing outside the Old School Lounge and testified, “I seen this man and woman, they had got into an argument.” (App.p.237). Alphonso Hailey testified no one tried to stop the argument between the man and woman. (App.p.250). Alphonso Hailey testified Respondent got a gun from Pearson that night. (App.pp.236-37). Alphonso Hailey was able to identify Respondent as the shooter when the hood of his coat fell to the back. (App.p.242; p.263). Alphonso Hailey testified Respondent told him the next day that he shot the victim. (App.p.249).

B.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified to the following on cross-examination by the State:

Q: Did [Respondent] ever tell you his version of what had happened at the club that night?

A: He denied shooting [the victim].

Q: So he never told you that he shot the victim in order to protect Sally?

A: No.

(App.p.503). Trial counsel further testified to the following:

Q: And part of your practice would have been to review the discrepancies in these identifications with your client?

A: Yes. That was the general practice. But again, he denied any involvement, so I was left with nothing else.

Q: So your strategy at trial was just to prove he was innocent?

A: Yes.

(App.p.504). Trial counsel testified “when your client denies that this actually happened, that’s what you’ve got to run with. And you’ve got nothing else to play with.”

(App.p.508). Trial counsel stated there was no dispute the victim and his girlfriend were arguing before the shooting but that he did not see a viable defense of others argument in this case especially “since [Respondent] denied shooting, then you have no defense.”

(App.p.507). Trial counsel testified there was no way – based upon the witness statements – he could have proven Brownlee was in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm, had no way to avoid the confrontation, and could not have retreated.

(App.pp.507-08).

Respondent stated that, on the night in question, he witnessed the victim acting “real hostile” towards his girlfriend. (App.pp.582-83). Respondent stated the victim eventually blocked Brownlee’s car with his own. (App.p.583). Respondent admitted Brownlee did not ask anyone for help. (App.p.595). However, Respondent stated the following during his direct examination:

Q: Okay. Were you at all concerned for Sally?

A: Yes, ma’am.

Q: And what do you think would happen to Sally?

A: He could have put her in the car, took her to his house and continued his assault.

Q: Okay. And so what did you decide to do?

A: I decided to try and break it up.

Q: And so what did you do? What did you get?

A: I went and got a firearm.

(App.p.584). Respondent stated he then went to the victim and told him to “leave the female alone” but that the victim took a step towards him, so he fired three times. (App.pp.586-88).² Respondent stated he told trial counsel he did not murder the victim but never said that he shot the victim to protect Brownlee. (App.p.593). Respondent stated he and trial counsel never discussed an argument of defense of others. (App.pp.576-77).

Many of the eyewitnesses who testified at Respondent’s trial also testified at the PCR hearing. James Pickens confirmed he gave three statements to police then testified at trial that he did not know anything about the shooting. (App.p.524). Pickens stated the victim was “violent” towards a woman and “calling her names” but later explained on cross-examination that when he said the victim was violent, he meant the victim was pulling on the woman’s clothes. (App.p.521; p.525).

LaTorrey Pearson confirmed he gave three different statements to police. (App.p.534). Pearson stated the victim was “jumping” on a woman. (App.p.531). Pearson stated on cross-examination that he “would say they were fussing or whatever” but did not recall anything specific. (App.p.535). Pearson stated he did not recall Respondent having words with either the victim or the woman. (App.pp.535-36).

Michael “Shoes” Vance stated the victim was “acting violent” with Brownlee outside. (App.p.539). Vance clarified on cross-examination that “acting violent” meant

² On cross-examination, Respondent changed his story. Respondent stated he told the victim to stop bothering Brownlee and that the victim lunged at him after he fired the first shot. (App.pp.597-98).

the victim was “pushing and shoving” the victim while they were yelling at each other. (App.p.539).

Alphonso Hailey stated the victim was “battling with [Brownlee}” and that “[i]t was really on an equal balance with the both of them.” (App.p.546). Alphonso Hailey stated on cross-examination that, when he said the two were fighting, he meant the victim “was calling [Brownlee] all kinds of names” and slapped her. (App.p.549). Alphonso Hailey admitted it appeared the victim was “mostly” just yelling at Brownlee. (App.p.549). Alphonso Hailey stated he did not recall seeing the victim or Brownlee having words with Respondent before the shooting. (App.p.549). Alphonso Hailey stated he heard Respondent ask Pearson for a gun because he “got into it” with someone. (App.p.548).

Bassen Hailey stated the victim was acting “very violent” with the woman. (App.p.554). Bassen Hailey clarified on cross-examination that this meant he saw the victim “shove” the woman while they were yelling at each other. (App.pp.556-57). Bassen Hailey stated he did not see Respondent have words with either the victim or the woman. (App.pp.557-58).

Cammy Dennis stated the victim and the woman were arguing outside, that the victim called her names, and that the victim “smacked the woman in the face and jerked her chain off her neck.” (App.pp.560-62). Dennis stated on cross-examination that the victim struck the woman one time. (App.p.564). Dennis stated she did not see anyone having words with either the victim or the woman. (App.pp.564-65).

Sheila Lomax stated she did not give a statement to police. (App.p.565). Lomax

stated she saw the victim was “acting aggressive” with her cousin – Brownlee – outside. (App.p.570). Lomax clarified on cross-examination that this meant the victim was yelling, swearing, and grabbing at Brownlee. (App.p.573). Lomax admitted the victim did not strike Brownlee. (App.p.573). Lomax stated she did not see anyone have words with the victim or Brownlee while they were outside. (App.p.574). Lomax stated there were a lot of people in the parking lot that night and Brownlee was a “couple feet” from the door of the bar while she was arguing with the victim. (App.p.574).

C.

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel’s ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

D.

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving trial counsel erred in not arguing defense of others at trial. Based upon both the evidence in

the case and his conversations with Respondent, there was no reason for trial counsel to argue defense of others in this case. Trial counsel and Respondent both testified that Respondent said he did not shoot or murder the victim. (App.p.503; p.593). Neither trial counsel nor Respondent testified that Respondent ever said he killed the victim in order to protect Brownlee. (App.p.503; p.593). Trial counsel testified Respondent never gave him the names of witnesses to contact. (App.pp.504-05). Based upon his conversations with Respondent, trial counsel was left to argue the defense of actual innocence at trial. The eyewitnesses' trial testimony – based in large part on the statements that had been given to police – also did not support a theory of defense of others. None of the eyewitnesses testified the shooter exchanged words or had a conversation with the victim before the shooting. None of the eyewitnesses testified Brownlee asked for help or looked to be in fear for her life. Trial counsel testified that, based upon the evidence, there was no viable argument for defense of others. As such, trial counsel's only decision from a trial strategy standpoint at that time was to argue that Respondent was innocent of the crimes. Trial counsel's strategy is corroborated by the statement at the beginning of trial that trial counsel had recently been made aware of an alibi witness. (App.pp.35-36). Trial counsel would not have made such a comment on the record if Respondent had admitted shooting the victim or the evidence revealed a valid argument for defense of others in this case.

Where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419

S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992). “Counsel’s strategy will be reviewed under ‘an objective standard of reasonableness.’” Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 633, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004) (citing Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)). “Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s trial tactics.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992). It is clear that, based upon both the evidence in this case and assertions by his client, trial counsel made a strategic decision to argue Respondent’s innocence at trial. Respondent even admitted at the PCR hearing that he told trial counsel that he did not murder the victim. Based upon all of the information known to trial counsel at the time, it was reasonable for him to have pursued a trial strategy of actual innocence. Even assuming arguendo that Respondent never denied the shooting, a defense of others was never a viable defense argument or trial strategy in this case and will be discussed more fully infra.

E.

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving he was prejudiced because trial counsel did not present an argument of defense of others. Several witnesses from the trial also testified at the PCR hearing. Neither their testimony – nor Respondent’s – supported a legal argument of defense of others.

Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense. State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 322-23, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000). One is justified to use deadly force in self-defense when:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) The defendant . . . actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief . . . ; and
- (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

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