# SCCID

SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION ON INDIGENT DEFENSE

Division of Appellate Defense  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201-3332  
Post Office Box 11589  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1589  
Telephone: (803) 734-1330  
Facsimile: (803) 734-1397

Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender  
Wanda H. Carter, Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

January 21, 2014

**RECEIVED**

JAN 24 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

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

## ARGUMENT

Ample evidence supports the PCR court's findings and conclusions that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance because he (1) failed to investigate the case; (2) failed to present a defense of self-defense and defense of others; and (3) failed to object to grossly inadmissible hearsay and character evidence.

### Introduction

Decedent Sammy Martin ("Martin") attacked a woman in a nightclub. In their statements to police that night, multiple witnesses described Martin's attack on the woman as beginning inside the nightclub and continuing in the parking lot. Martin's autopsy revealed a blood alcohol level of 0.15 and that Martin had ingested crack cocaine. In full view of numerous people who knew him, seventeen-year-old Jwan Tyree Smith ("Smith") came to the woman's aid and eventually shot Martin. Smith knew Martin was a violent man with a history of assaulting women. Smith also knew Martin usually carried a weapon.

Despite the obvious strategy of self-defense and defense of others necessitated by the evidence, which included multiple people who identified Smith as the shooter, trial counsel Robert A. Gamble ("Gamble") used a mistaken identification defense. He never sought jury charges on self-defense or defense of others. Before trial, Gamble only met with the youthful Smith two times for a total of approximately forty minutes. Gamble interviewed no witnesses. The PCR judge correctly concluded that trial counsel's ineffectiveness prejudiced Smith. Ample evidence supports this conclusion.

### The PCR Court's Findings and Conclusions Regarding Deficient Performance

The PCR court's central finding was that Gamble's lack of investigation led him to adopt the unreasonable strategy of mistaken identification. App. 642-643. The PCR court held this was

not a reasonable strategic decision. App. 643. Judge Newman held, “Using the wrong defense was not a trial strategy employed by Mr. Gamble; it was the result of abysmal effort at best by Applicant’s trial attorney to investigate and try the case, resulting in uneducated legal judgments.” App. 643. Judge Newman found that a “reasonable attorney would have known just from reading the discovery provided by the State that the Applicant’s only viable defenses were defense of others and self-defense.” App. 643.

The proper standard of review of a PCR court’s order is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to support the court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Ample evidence from the trial and the PCR hearing support Judge Newman’s findings and conclusion about the unreasonableness of Gamble’s course of action. Judge Newman found that Gamble “failed to interview a single witness.” App. 642. During the PCR hearing, Smith’s attorney questioned Gamble about twenty-two witnesses whose names were known to him before the trial or were easily available. Gamble could not remember interviewing a single one of them. App. 448, ll. 4 – 7 (Clyde Clemmons). App. 455, l. 20 – 456, ll. 7 (Landis Bolden). App. 457, ll. 5 – 13 (Angela Brownlee). App. 461, l. 20 – 462, ll. 7 (Janis Cherry). App. 463, ll. 10 – 20 (Fred Chiles). App. 465, ll. 12 – 24 (Patricia Clinkscales). App. 467, ll. 7 – 18 (Cammy Dennis). App. 468, l. 15 – 469, l. 12 (Steven Glenn). App. 469, ll. 13 – 18 (Alphonso Haley). App. 471, ll. 7 – 14 (Bason Haley). App. 474, ll. 1 – 8 (Mary Ann Hall). App. 474, l. 20 – 475, l. 5 (Samika Hall). App. 475, ll. 16 – 23 (Anthony Massey). App. 478, ll. 18 – 23 (Janis Morris). App. 479, ll. 16 – 25 (Tim Mule). App. 480, ll. 9 – 15 (Carl Oglesby). App. 481, ll. 7 – 13 (Latorrey Pearson). App. 484, ll. 4 – 12 (Denise Peterson). App. 485, ll. 2 – 13 (James Pickens). App. 493, l. 8 – 494, l. 2 (Michael Vance). App. 497, ll. 3 – 13 (“Jennifer” from 911 call). App. 501, ll. 16 – 18 (Sheila Lomax). The failure to conduct a full and independent investigation constitutes deficient

performance under the Sixth Amendment. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003); Council v. State, 380 S.C. 159, 670 S.E.2d 356 (2008); Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 602 S.E.2d 738 (2004).

As Judge Newman correctly found, the statements provided to Gamble by the State in discovery for many of these witnesses supports defense of others and self-defense. App. 643. Judge Newman found that a “reasonably competent attorney would not have ignored the numerous witness statements that were provided in discovery that indicated that the applicant had acted to defend another.” App. 643. Gamble never disputed that he was provided statements from the witnesses in discovery. He had notice of the facts supporting a defense of others argument.

At multiple points in the PCR hearing, Smith’s attorney confronted Gamble with witness statements that were in his possession that supported a theory of defense of others. Fred Chiles’ (“Chiles”) statement described Martin pushing his girlfriend, Angela (Sally) Brownlee (“Brownlee”), in the parking lot. App. 463, l. 17 – 464, l. 23. Martin repeatedly accused Brownlee of cheating on him. App. 464, ll. 2 – 22. Chiles saw a man say “something to Sammy” before firing shots. App. 464, ll. 19 – 23. In his statement, Alfonso Haley (“Haley”) described Martin as calling Brownlee a whore, yelling at her, and slapping her several times in the parking lot. App. 470, ll. 11 – 25. Haley said Smith asked Latorrey Peterson to borrow a gun. App. 470, ll. 11 – 25. Bason Haley described the same events. App. 471, ll. 7 – 473, l. 19. Latorrey Peterson said he saw Martin hit Brownlee “a couple of times.” App. 482, ll. 11 – 17. Peterson gave Smith a gun. App. 482, ll. 22 – 25. In his statement, he identified Smith by name as the shooter and also said Smith admitted that he shot Martin the next day. App. 43, ll. 1 – 12.

Gamble received a statement from Michael Vance in discovery. App. 493, ll. 8 – 23. Vance described Martin as pushing Brownlee and “trying to get her inside a car.” App. 494, ll. 15 – 22.

He saw a “kid” run from the side of the night club. App. 494, ll. 16 – 19. Vance thought that the kid and Martin “had words.” App. 494, l. 20.

Gamble also had access to the statements of James Pickens a/k/a “Turk” (“Pickens”). App. 485, ll. 2 – 16. Pickens described Martin as hitting, slapping, and grabbing Brownlee. App. 486, ll. 21 – 24. Martin continued to try to hit Brownlee after she got into her car. App. 487, ll. 1 – 2. Pickens saw “another black female” with Martin and Brownlee. This woman told Martin to “leave his girlfriend alone.” App. 487, ll. 11 – 13. Pickens identified Smith as the shooter. App. 487, ll. 15 – 19. The existence of these statements and Gamble’s access to them amply supports the PCR court’s conclusion that abandoning a defense of others strategy in favor of a mistaken identity theory that had no chance of success was unreasonable.

This other “black female” at the car was Shiela Lomax (“Lomax”). App. 565, l. 24 – 566, l. 3. Lomax did not testify at trial, but testified at the PCR hearing. She described Martin as “real aggressive.” App. 569, ll. 21 – 24. Martin used his vehicle to block in Brownlee. App. 571, ll. 2 – 10. He exited his car and began “cussing” at Brownlee. App. 571, ll. 9 – 23. Lomax thought that Brownlee was in danger and that an attempt to help her would have been reasonable. App. 572, ll. 10 – 19. Failing to locate and call favorable witnesses is deficient performance. In Martinez v. State, 304 S.C. 39, 41, 403 S.E.2d 113, 113-14 (1991), this Court held trial counsel ineffective for failing to subpoena a witness who could have testified favorably for the defense. In Pauling v. State, 331 S.C. 606, 610, 503 S.E.2d 468, 470-71 (1998), trial counsel was held ineffective for failing to call a triage nurse in a rape case. Similarly, failing to locate and call Lomax constituted deficient performance.

The State argues that Gamble’s actions were justified because Smith told him he did not murder Martin. App. 593, ll. 4 – 22. This argument is without merit. Gamble failed to explain to

Smith the evidence against him. App. 589, ll. 9 – 11. Gamble only met with Smith two times for forty minutes. App. 577, l. 16 – 578, l. 4. Smith was only seventeen years old at the time of the shooting and eighteen at the time of the trial. App. 575, l. 22 – 576, l. 1. Smith had never been arrested. App. 576, ll. 6 – 9. Gamble did not explain to Smith possible defenses—including defense of others—suggested by the evidence. App. 577, l. 17 – 578, l. 15.

In fact, during the trial court’s colloquy with Smith regarding whether he would testify, Gamble showed his lack of preparation for the case and the law. Gamble told the trial judge that he informed Smith that “by pleading not guilty had indicated he didn’t do this act and that was all he can say on the stand. Basically, other than to say he’s young and went to Florida for some reason, I don’t know.” App. 338, ll. 1 – 5. Gamble denied that an attorney has a categorical duty to investigate the case and discuss defenses with a client. App. 509, ll. 19 – 24. Gamble said he did not explain the possible defenses to Smith because Smith denied murdering Martin. Gamble said “I don’t bother to go into it.” App. 510, ll. 1 – 6.

The solicitor’s actions at trial further bolster the PCR court’s conclusion that Gamble’s actions were unreasonable. The solicitor clearly anticipated that Smith would claim self-defense or defense of others. In his opening statement, the solicitor attempted to take the sting out of the defense’s case by telling the jury about Martin and Brownlee’s fight. App. 48, l. 9 – 49, l. 13. For each witness, the solicitor asked questions that set up a counterargument to self-defense. The solicitor asked Brownlee if Martin had a weapon or if anybody stepped in and tried to intervene in the argument. App. 61, ll. 1 – 13. He asked Vance if the shooter said anything to Martin before firing and whether Martin had a weapon. App. 71, ll. 1 – 16. He asked Chiles if Smith and Martin exchanged words or got into a fight. App. 89, l. 22 – 90, l. 4. He asked Chiles if anyone tried to break up the fight between Smith and Brownlee. App. 93, ll. 9 – 94, l. 24. The solicitor asked

Bassen Hailey and Latorrey Peterson whether Smith and Martin exchanged words or if Martin had a weapon. App. 121, l. 11 – 122, l. 3 (Bassen Hailey). App. 171, ll. 19 – 25 (Latorrey Peterson). He asked James Pickens and Alphonso Hailey whether Martin had a weapon and whether Smith was trying to help Brownlee. App. 202, l. 24 – 203, l. 1. App. 219, l. 22 – 220, l. 2. App. 250, ll. 17 – 23.

Even though no self-defense or defense of others charge was requested by Gamble, the solicitor still felt compelled to address the issue in his closing argument. The solicitor stated:

Now, when we prepare a case as a prosecutor, we go and present the evidence and **we also try to think of what the defense would come up with** to try and say that he is not guilty of this crime. We could only think about four them. **One of them was self-defense**, which we know that's not the case. All the witnesses testified there was no conflict between Mr. Smith and Mr. Martin.

In fact, Detective Reeves, even after he was arrested, went back in his investigation and said there is no documented report of any conflict between these two individuals.

**Well, it's not self-defense. Was it defense of others?** There is testimony at no point nobody at that place jumped in between Ms. Brownlee and Mr. Martin during their fussing or argument. So he didn't play the white knight and go to her rescue.

App. 356, l. 14 – 357, l. 5 (emphasis added). If the solicitor knew the appropriate defense was self-defense and defense of others, then the trial court's conclusion that Gamble should have known the same thing is amply supported by the evidence.

The PCR court also found trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to numerous hearsay statements during the testimony of Detective Reeves. App. 636-40. In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court thoroughly listed each of these instances and cited to the transcript. App. 636-40. The State argues many of these statements are not hearsay and were used to show why the police took certain actions. This argument is without merit. A statement is hearsay when it is made out of court for the truth of the matter asserted. SCRE 801(c). Detective Reeves on multiple

occasions repeated what witnesses at the scene told him. For example, the solicitor asked Detective Reeves “as a result of your conversations” with unidentified people at the club, “were you able to form the identity of a suspect in this case?” App. 290, ll. 10 – 12. Detective Reeves replied that “Two distinct individuals brought up the name they had heard on scene of Buster.” App. 290, ll. 13 – 16. This statement is actually double hearsay. Unlike a question of “What did you do as a result of talking to people at the scene,” the detective was asked to repeat hearsay statements. Trial counsel’s failure to object to these hearsay identifications as listed by the PCR court demonstrate that he did not even comply with his claimed “strategy” of challenging the identification of his client.

Finally, the PCR court correctly found that trial counsel failed to object to inadmissible evidence regarding Smith’s character. App. 640-42. Gamble failed to object to a witness’s statement that Smith had a reputation as a “troublemaker.” App. 92, ll. 15 – 17. Gamble also failed to object to witness’s statements that Smith asked them if he could buy marijuana. This testimony was irrelevant and highly prejudicial, and therefore inadmissible pursuant to Rules 404(b) and 403, SCRE. Trial counsel’s failure to lodge objections to this testimony cannot be defended as part of any strategy but are signs that he neglected his duty as an advocate.

*The PCR Court Correctly Concluded that Smith Was Prejudiced by Gamble’s Deficient*

*Performance*

The PCR court properly held that because Smith would have been entitled to a charge on self-defense and defense of others, he suffered prejudice by trial counsel’s inaction. App. 643-650. The State argues these findings were incorrect because the evidence at trial and at the PCR hearing does not show that Smith was entitled to a charge of either self-defense or defense of others. The State’s argument is not supported by the evidence or the legal standards applicable to these claims.

The State's argument is essentially a jury argument—that under these facts, Smith's self-defense claim would fail. This argument misses the point. Gamble's failure deprived Smith of the only defense he had. Furthermore, under the "any evidence" standard applicable to jury charges, Smith would certainly have been entitled to jury charges on self-defense and defense of others.

Smith testified that he knew Martin's history of violence against women. Smith experienced it firsthand because Martin lived with Smith while he was dating Smith's mother. App. 579, ll. 2 – 6. His mother pressed charges against Martin for assaulting her. App. 579, ll. 2 – 6. Smith described seeing Martin hit his mother "in the face, smush her head against the wall. He'd beat on her for no reason." App. 579, ll. 15 – 18. He saw Martin pull a knife on her. App. 579, ll. 19 – 20. Smith testified Martin "always kept a weapon. When I used to live with him, he always kept a gun. He always carried a knife with him or a gun." App. 581, ll. 4 – 6.

The night of the shooting, Smith saw Martin striking Brownlee and "pulling her by the collar." App. 582, ll. 10 – 12. Martin was "hostile." App. 582, ll. 13 – 15. Smith had seen Martin's hostile demeanor on "plenty" of other occasions. App. 582, ll. 16 – 18. He described the encounter between Martin and Brownlee as "a fight." App. 582, l. 23 – 583, l. 2.

Smith saw Martin use his car to block Brownlee's car from escaping the nightclub's parking lot. App. 583, ll. 10 – 21. Martin "jumped out and continued his assault." App. 583, ll. 22 – 23. Martin "was trying to force her against her will to go somewhere." App. 585, ll. 5 – 9. From his experience, Smith knew that if Martin were able to get the woman alone it would "be a very bad thing." App. 585, ll. 10 – 13. Smith walked up to Martin and told him "leave the female alone." App. 586, ll. 4 – 10. Martin wheeled on him. App. 586, l. 23 – 587, l. 4. Martin stepped toward Smith and the look on Martin's face showed Smith that Martin was not afraid of him and was not going to retreat. App. 586, l. 23 – 587, l. 8. Martin was intoxicated and high on crack cocaine.

App. 301, l. 9 – 302, l. 3. Smith fired a warning shot at Martin’s legs “to get him to stop.” App. 587, ll. 19 – 24. Martin then lunged at him. App. 598, ll. 3 – 10. Only then did Smith fire the fatal shots. App. 588, ll. 2 – 4. Smith testified that the encounter only lasted seconds. App. 598, ll. 16 – 19.

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